
Staff Report 
August 8, 2023 

TO: Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council 

FROM: Merrill Buck, Town Engineer 

RE: Receive a Presentation on the Loomis Welcome Sign Project and Appropriate 

Funds in the Amount of $55,000 from the General Fund Capital Reserves  

Recommendation 

Staff recommends that the Town Council receive a presentation by Ken Teichmann of Solace 
Graphics on the Town of Loomis Welcome Sign Project and adopt a resolution appropriating 
$55,000 to fund the project, from the General Fund Capital Reserves (Fund 110).  

Issue Statement and Discussion 

The Welcome Sign Project was started back in 2016 when the Town hired Coastland Civil 
Engineering to design a sign structure that could be placed on the northeast corner of Sierra 
College Boulevard and Taylor Road (Attachment B), within the Union Pacific Railroad (UPRR) right 
of way.  The UPRR agreed to the placement of this sign under the terms of a lease agreement 
which requires annual payments in the amount of $250 for the use of their right of way.   

In March 2017, the Town executed the lease agreement, and it is unclear why the project was not 
implemented at that time.  It could be that while the plans were finalized for a structure, there was 
still more work to be done in designing and gaining approval for the interior “artwork and 
messaging” portion of the sign.     

In December 2022, there was renewed interest in implementing the project, The plans for the sign 
structure were revised by Coastland to bring them up to current California Building Code 
standards, and the project was advertised for bids.  The scope of work consisted of building a sign 
structure, with concrete footings, to the 14-foot-long by 10-foot-high dimensions approved under 
the lease agreement.  

Concurrent with finalizing the sign structure portion of the project, the Chamber of Commerce and 
Town staff met as part of an Economic Development Committee with Ken Teichmann of Solace 
Graphics to discuss design options for graphics, lettering, and lighting that would make up the 
interior portion of the sign.  The final recommendation from this committee is included with this 
report and will be presented as a power point during the meeting (Attachment C).   

On July 18, 2023, a total of four bids were received for the sign structure portion of the work, as 
summarized below: 
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Bidder Bid Amount 

1. JS Construction $38,000.00 

2. Paine Construction $39,999.00 

3. Kingsley Builders $42,625.00 

4. Galt Sign & Screenprinting $48,643.91 

Engineer’s Estimate $28,500.00 

The low bidder, JS Construction from Palo Cedro, California, has been licensed and performing 
similar work since 2019.  They have a current and active Class B General Contractor’s License, as 
required to perform the work, they are registered with the Department of Industrial Relations, and 
they are deemed a responsible bidder under criteria defined in the California Public Contract Code. 

A project appropriation of $55,000 will be needed to award contracts to JS Construction in the 
amount of $38,000 to build the sign structure and Solace Graphics in the amount of $12,300 to 
design and construct the interior portion of sign.  This appropriation also includes a 10% 
contingency as an allowance for any unforeseen items of work.  These contracts are within the 
Town Manager’s expenditure authority to award, following the recommended project appropriation. 

It is expected that with the award of the above referenced contracts, work can begin by the end of 
August and be completed by the end of the year. 

CEQA Requirements 

The proposed work is Categorically Exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental 
Quality Act pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15303, New Construction of Small Structures. 

Financial and/or Policy Implications 

There is currently no budget established for the Welcome Sign Project, as it was not included in 
the FY 2022-23 / FY 2023-24 Capital Improvements Program.  It is therefore recommended that 
$55,000 be appropriated from the Town’s General Fund Capital Reserves (Fund 110) to fund the 
Welcome Sign Project.  Sufficient funds are available in Fund 110 for the recommended 
appropriation.   
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TOWN OF LOOMIS 

RESOLUTION NO. 23 - _____ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOOMIS 
APPROPRIATING $55,000 TO FUND THE WELCOME SIGN PROJECT  

FROM THE GENERAL FUND CAPITAL RESERVES  

WHEREAS, the Town is proposing to construct a welcome sign in the Union Pacific 

Railroad (UPRR) right of way, at the northeast corner of Sierra College Boulevard and Taylor 

Road; and  

WHEREAS, a license agreement approving the construction of the welcome sign in the 

UPRR right of way was authorized by the Town Council in March 2017; and  

WHEREAS, two contracts are proposed to construct the welcome sign, one from JS 

Construction in the amount of $38,000 to construct the sign structure, and one from Solace 

Graphics in the amount of $12,300 to design and construct the interior portion of sign; and  

WHEREAS, in order to award these contracts along with a 10% contingency as an 

allowance for unforeseen work, a project appropriation in the amount of $55,000 is needed; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that $55,000 be appropriated to the Welcome Sign Project 

from the Town’s General Fund Capital Reserves (Fund 110); and 

WHEREAS, there are sufficient funds in the General Fund Capital Reserves for the 

requested appropriation.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Town Council of the Town of Loomis 

hereby appropriates $55,000 to fund the Welcome Sign Project, from the General Fund Capital 

Reserves (Fund 110). 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 8th day of August 2023 by the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT:  
ABSTAINED: 

Mayor 
ATTEST: 

Deputy Town Clerk 
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Loomis Welcome Sign

Presented by
Solace Graphics

August 8, 2023
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Lease Agreement with 
Union Pacific Railroad Artwork Developed under Economic 

Development Committee Collaboration: 
Chamber of Commerce and Town Staff 



Project in Two Phases:
• Structure
• Interior Artwork
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